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SUFY protects and defends
the human rights of 
vulnerable people with disability 
through individual advocacy
to address injustices and to make
a positive and sustainable 
difference to their lives.  



SUFY REMEMBERS
SUFY remembers many people 
who have been part of our 
journey during the last thirty 
years.  We acknowledge and 
appreciate the contributions 
and insights individuals have 
made to our SUFY work.

Over the past year, a person has  
died and we remember her -  

“Dolly” Doreen Doris O’Brien
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?
“Speaking Up For You Inc. 
(SUFY) protects and defends 
the human rights of vulnerable 
people with disability through 
individual advocacy to address 
injustices and make a positive 
and sustainable difference to 
their lives.”

OUR PRINCIPLES
Human Rights: SUFY will promote, 
protect and defend the lives and the 
human rights of each person with 
disability whom we support in the 
advocacy relationship.

Social Justice: SUFY will operate in 
ways that support the achievement 
of rights, equity, access, 
participation and equality in our 
advocacy work with each person.

Inclusion in Community Life: SUFY 
will operate in ways that value and 
support the inclusion of people with 
disability in the life of their diverse 
communities.

OUR MISSION

ABOUT US
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OUR INDIVIDUAL ADVOCACY 
SUFY provides a combination of individual advocacy and self-advocacy 
that is consultative and collaborative with each individual and with families 
/ guardians where appropriate. Self-advocacy underpins the essence of our 
work, as we enable individuals to gain confidence, understand information 
and then act on their own behalf. We stand beside and with vulnerable 
people with disability so that they can feel confident that their voice is 
heard. Our advocacy work with them is often long term, creating positive, 
real and sustainable differences to each person’s well-being and lifestyle 
over time. This work is informed by the principles and elements of social 
advocacy.

WHERE WE WORK
In the greater Brisbane and Moreton Bay areas including Redlands.

THE PEOPLE WE WORK WITH
Vulnerable people with disability who are at risk with;
• Fundamental needs not met (adequate food and clothing, housing, 

health and well-being, safety and freedom from harm, having someone 
who cares)

•  Least able to represent or defend their own interests
•  Diverse mix of people who differ in age, disability, culture, living 

arrangements, relationships and complexity of life situations.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE AND STAFF    
There were six management committee members elected at the AGM in 
2018/2019 to oversee the work of SUFY for the financial year 2019/2020.

Management 
Committee  
Chairperson 
Hugh Rose-Miller
Vice Chairperson  
Madonna Nicoll  
Secretary   
David Haxton   
Treasurer   
Michael Barwick
Committee    
Willie Prince
Alison Maclean 

SUFY 
Staff   
Manager
Dianne Toohey (part-time) 

NDIS Appeals Workers 
Anna Vega (part-time)
Fiona Campbell (part-time)  

Advocacy worker 
Neal Lakshman (full time)
Kathy Kendell (part-time)

Disability Royal Commission Advocacy Workers
Nance Haxton (part-time)
Linda McKey (part-time)

Advocacy Administration and Support Worker
Kelly Beckitt (part-time, commenced full-time March 2020)

Certified Bookkeeper
Lucia Forman (part-time) 



NATIONAL DISABILITY ADVOCACY PROGRAM
SUFY is accredited under the National Disability Service Standards. 
Our focus:

 To provide individual advocacy on behalf of vulnerable 
 people with disability whose fundamental needs are not met
 and/or whose human rights are being denied. 
 To assist some people to advocate on behalf of a vulnerable 
 person with disability;
 Restrictive practices are repealed and the Convention on 
 Rights of Persons with Disability is implemented.

 Independent social advocacy is embedded in the local 
 community and responsive to people with disability in 
 their community.

 Vulnerable people are supported with independent advocacy 
 throughout the NDIS processes.

 Includes people who will not be considered under the NDIS.

 SUFY is a principled, effective, accountable and sustainable
 social advocacy organisation.

DISABILITY ROYAL COMMISSION ADVOCACY
The Royal Commission into Violence, Abuse, Neglect and Exploitation 
of People with Disability was established in April 2019 in response to 
community concern about widespread reports of violence, abuse, 
neglect, abuse and exploitation of people with disability.

In November 2019, SUFY engaged two part time Advocates, Linda 
and Nance, who have provided individual advocacy support to 
people affected by the Disability Royal Commission through the 
following services:

• Informing people about the Disability Royal Commission
• Helping people understand the purpose of the Disability Royal 

Commission
• Helping people work out whether they want to participate in the 

Disability Royal Commission
• Helping people who want to participate in the Disability Royal 

Commission plan the best way to tell their story
• Helping people communicate with the Disability Royal Commission 

about required communication supports such as interpreters, 
accessible interview techniques and recordings

• Referring people to other agencies for ongoing counselling and/or 
psychological support as needed

NDIS Appeals Advocate, you 
were integral in achieving 
this for us, as I needed an 
authentic person to connect 
with and an assertive person 
to give me confidence to 
speak our daughters voice 
along this maze, as I was 
falling in a heap and literally 
you were a beacon for me.

SOCIAL MEDIA
SUFY has maintained 
information and coverage with 
a website; www.sufy.org.au and 
also using Facebook to reach 
people with disability, families 
and allies more effectively.  
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OUR WORK
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INDIVIDUAL ADVOCACY
SUFY provided individual advocacy to 161 individuals during the 
financial year.

Advocates completed advocacy for 46 individuals and their files were 
closed. The majority of the 161 individuals SUFY advocated for had 
multiple issues for which they required advocacy. The total number of 
issues that SUFY advocated for totalled 255. 

Some individuals require long-term advocacy and a commitment over 
a number of years.

SUFY has managed to fully or partially resolve many of these issues, 
however many individuals have ongoing issues which require 
advocacy. 

SUFY provided advocacy support to many family members to assist 
with strategies and letter writing, negotiating with the Department 
and service providers on behalf of their family members. 

• Restrictive Practices

• Abuse/neglect

• Accommodation

• Discrimination or rights

• Equipment

• Financial matters

• Health 

• Independent living support

• Legal issues

• Recreational, social or family issues

• Service gaps, access, policy, reduction in service or complaints

• Vulnerability/isolation

• Forced co-tenancy

• Lack of recognition, fulfilment or protection of human rights

• Impact of block funding and institutionalised practices

• Impact for people who are involved with the 
Disability Services Forensic Unit

• Transition to the NDIS

NDIS EXTERNAL APPEALS
SUFY assisted 20 people with NDIS internal reviews and 39 people 
with their NDIS appeals at the Administrative Appeals Tribunal (AAT) 
in 2019/2020.  Some of these matters continued from the previous 
financial year and some will continue into next financial year.  We 
advocate for both people seeking access to the NDIS and participants 
whose plans are insufficient for their needs.  

SYSTEMS ADVOCACY WORK
SUFY’s system advocacy continued to lobby against the Supported 
Independent Living model of support as it undermines choice and 
control for participants and perpetuates the group home model of 
support which is the dominate model of support for participants who 
have high or more complex needs.

Hi SUFY Individual Advocate, 
thank you very much for 
what you have done for me 
over the years.  I’m happier 
now because of your 
support, thank you for 
everything.

161
PEOPLE RECIEVED 
ADVOCACY FROM SUFY

255
ISSUES WERE 
ADVOCATED FOR BY SUFY 
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It’s been such a joy to work 
with my NDIS Appeals 
Advocate towards my 
daughter’s inclusion in the 
NDIS.  She has been a 
lifesaver over the last month.  
For what it’s worth I think my 
NDIS Appeals Advocate is 
awesome and I’m going to 
be spruiking about SUFY to 
anyone who will listen.  
Thanks so much for 
speaking up for you.  
You rock!



PRESENTATIONS AND TRAINING
SUFY staff have been involved in 
•  NDIS Reviews and Appeals (2 staff)
• ATO Open Forum (1 staff)
• SDA Queensland Disability Housing forum (1 staff)
• Values in Action SRV Training (2 staff)
• DSS Working with people with 

Trauma-Blue Knot DRC (1 staff)
• Trauma Responsive practice with families (1 staff)
• ICB Annual Conference (1 staff)
• ICB Payroll Terminations Workshop (1 staff)
• ICB Professional Development (1 staff)
• DRC Your Story Legal Team webinar (2 staff)
• Taking Care of Disability Business webinar (1 staff)
• When DV comes to work (2 staff)
• NDIA Workshop (2 staff)
• NDIS Quality and Safeguards Commission (2 staff)
• Conducted advocacy information session Red Cross (2 staff)

NETWORKING AND ALLIES
• Met with Queensland Advocacy Incorporated and Amparo – 

Needs for protections for people with disability during 
COVID

• Met with Summer Foundation about SDA Housing
• QDN and AMPARO – SIL forums and developing a booklet
• Met with NDIS Quality and Safeguards Commission
• Participated in Combined Advocacy Group Queensland

MEETING WITH DEPARTMENT REPRESENTATIVES
• NDIS Quality and Safeguards Commission – Restrictive 

Practices and the NDIS Forum
• SDA Queensland Disability Housing Forum
• Market Sounding Interviews – Qld Treasury at the request of 

the Qld Government to boost housing supply for people 
with disability

• Office of the Public Guardian – Issues experienced by 
Advocates in Qld

 

REPORTING TO 
FUNDING BODIES  
SUFY completed:

 
Department of Social 
Services - Families, 
Housing, Community 
Services   
• Annual Australian 
 Government Disability 
 Services Census;  
• Australian Government 
 Disability Program 
 Information Collection 
 service outlet form in 
 relation to our Funding 
 Agreement Schedule;  
• Six monthly performance 
 reports  
• Self-Assessment and 
 accreditation under the 
 NDAP standards 
• Annual Financial Reports 

 
Disability Services 
Queensland  
• Quarterly CSTDA 
 National Minimum Data 
 Sets;   
• Director's Certification 
 Certificates 
• Annual Service 
 Performance Report;
• Annual Financial Report  
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After I’d spoken to someone 
from SUFY I was very 
emotional at the time but 
afterwards I could give facts 
rather than emotion after 
speaking to an advocate.

Every-time you proofed or structured my thoughts I learnt 
something. The timing was so good, as her Mental 
health/neurological challenges just became more and more 
constraining for her.  If there is ever anything I can do for you 
or SUFY I will say yes. Literally you are the one person that 
saved my sanity. 



ACCESS TO THE NDIS
SUFY found that people with psychosocial or cognitive disability who 
were living in boarding houses, hostels or nursing homes and who 
were isolated and had limited or no family support were most likely to 
have difficulty accessing the NDIS. SUFY’s advocacy focused on 
ensuring that people had real choice and control in the process. We 
did this by providing support and information to them in all aspects of 
the process. 

HOUSING
The UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities (Article 
19), to which Australia is signatory, makes this clear, says that people 
with disability should “have the opportunity to choose their place of 
residence and where and with whom they live on an equal basis with 
others and are not obliged to live in a particular living arrangement.”

SUFY found that there was an increase in the number of people who 
contacted us who were homeless or who were living in unsafe 
housing such as group homes, boarding houses or nursing homes. In 
some cases, there is no separation between disability support and 
housing. This means that the person’s disability service provider is 
also the person’s landlord. If the person’s service is withdrawn the 
person automatically becomes homeless. Much of Australia’s housing 
is unaffordable or inaccessible, and there has been little done by 
consecutive governments to address this issue. There are no 
mandatory accessible housing standards and the voluntary accessible 
housing guidelines are clearly not working. In September 2019 SUFY 
participated in the Market Sounding Interviews undertaken by Qld 
treasury at the request of the Queensland Government to boost 
housing supply for people with a disability. During this financial year 
we were successful in assisting 15  people to find or maintain housing.

RESTRICTIVE PRACTICES
SUFY is concerned that the application of restrictive practices to 
people with a disability as we believe it is an infringement of their 
human rights. We are particularly concerned about the use of 
chemical restraint as we do not believe there are sufficient safeguards 
in place to appropriately monitor the use of many of the medications 
prescribed. There is a wide lack of understanding among support 
workers, families and even doctors about the harms caused by certain 
types of medications, including sedatives, anti-depressants and other 
psychotropic medications. This issue along with others will be 
provided to the Disability Royal Commission.

REPORT 2020
SUFY’s mission is to defend, 
protect and promote the 
fundamental rights, dignity and 
interests of vulnerable people 
with disability.

In 2019-2020 SUFY advocated 
for 161 people who required 
advocacy to ensure their 
fundamental needs were met 
and their lives improved. 

Our Individual advocacy 
focused on many issues 
including assisting people to 
access the NDIS, housing and 
homelessness, the unauthorised 
use of restrictive practices and 
issues with mothers with 
disability and child safety.

DISABILITY ROYAL 
COMMISSION
In November 2019 SUFY 
engaged two new employees, 
Nance and Linda to assist 
people to navigate the 
Disability Royal Commission 
and support them to make 
submissions.  Even through 
many obstacles SUFY have 
been able to support people 
with disability, their family and 
friends tell their stories in their 
own words.  We extremely 
happy to have Nance and Linda 
join SUFY and support people 
for this extremely important 
Commission.
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ADVOCACY CONTINUING THROUGH COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic has been a difficult and stressful time for the 
people with a disability that SUFY advocates for. Whilst people with a 
disability have been subject to their normal restrictions that other citizens 
have experienced, they have faced extra layers of restriction stemming 
from their disability that others in our society have not had to endure.

People with a disability were subject to the same restrictions that other 
citizens confronted such as being in lockdown, having restricted access 
to shopping and other services and being separated from family and 
friends. Much like other people they find these restrictions 
cumbersome, isolating and uncertain. Much like other citizens, people 
with a disability find the COVID-19 restrictions sometimes vague and 
arbitrary. Much like other citizens they hope that the restrictions will end 
sometime soon. Nevertheless, they have borne the shared restrictions 
with fortitude and little complaint. 

Unlike other citizens people with a disability experience an added layer 
of disadvantage that stems from having to rely on others to have their 
basic needs met. During COVID-19 people with a disability found that 
these added restrictions impacted seriously on the support that they 
received. Some examples were:

• Young people living in nursing homes not being allowed to go outside 
and not being able to access the community with support workers.

• People with a disability in boarding houses, that are classified as being 
homeless were prevented from leaving the boarding-house by the 
landlord. This prevented them from accessing community access 
workers in the community when restrictions started to loosen, and 
other citizens started to undertake activities.

• People in the group homes being prevented from having visitors, 
family, friends, and community access workers when others in the 
community enjoyed relaxed restrictions and started to undertake 
community activities.

• People with disabilities that had a NDIS plan review were told that 
NDIS planners were not having face-to-face meetings. Some people 
with a disability found that this disadvantaged them in reviews held 
over the phone. Phone only NDIS reviews meant that some people 
with a disability could not hear the questions or see subtle facial 
queues of the reviewer.  They may then not understand the reviewer 
questions and miss out on vital supports in their plan.

• Some people with a disability relying on support workers for basic 
care such as eating, bathing and washing were left with no supports 
due to COVID-19. Without explanation from their support services 

CONNECTING PARENTS AND SUPPORTS 
“Keeping families together”

Over the year we had a continual flow of referrals from parents who 
have a disability who had their children removed from their care.  

Parents who have disability experience unique challenges. They often 
have fewer social supports, face more discrimination, experience lower 
social economic status, and have had more occurrences of sexual and 
domestic violence than parents who do not have a disability. It is well 
documented that parents who have disability are disproportionately 
more likely to come to the attention of child protection agencies and 
are more likely to have their children removed from their care.

SUFY supported six parents with a disability to access funds through 
the NDIS to provide disability specific parenting supports and training. 
We also organised a two-day training session for up to 30 participants 
to inform those who work with parents that parents with disability are 
able to raise their children with support.  Unfortunately, these training 
sessions has been put on hold due to COVID-19 .

SYSTEMS ADVOCACY WORK
SUFY’s system advocacy continued to lobby against the Supported 
Independent Living model of support as it undermines choice and 
control for participants and perpetuates the group home model of 
support which is the dominate model of support for participants who 
have high or more complex needs. 

The Joint Standing Committee on the National Disability Insurance 
Scheme conducted a report into Supported Independent Living. This 
report found that the group home is likely to remain the dominant 
model for some time, particularly for people with more severe and 
profound intellectual disability. It is this group who are likely to have to 
continue to pool support funds and share accommodation with others. 
The Joint Standing Committee made 45 recommendations to improve 
the SIL regime. 

SUFY will continue to monitor the implementation of the 45 
recommendations, collect stories from people with disability and their 
families and educate people about their rights in relation to choosing 
where and with who they live with.

LINKAGES AND CAPACITY BUILDING (ILC) 
The purpose of this grant was to increase the capacity of current and 
potential committee members who have a disability to lead and 
govern the organisation. The grant provided training for 10 people to 
ensure they had the skills and knowledge at all levels, including 
governance to take up this role. Training included the fundamentals 
about social advocacy, contemporary disability practice to ensure an 
understanding of person-centred practices and what it takes for 
people with disability to have a good life and be able to contribute to 
family and community. I would like to thank the 10 people who 
participated in the Leadership Project and look forward to their 
continued involvement with SUFY.  I would also like to thank CRU and 
AMPARO Advocacy for the support they provided to ensure the 
training events were highly successful.

Supported Independent Living Booklet – SUFY worked with QDN to 
develop a paper on SIL to inform people with disability and their 
families.  Forums were conducted and stories were gathered from 
people around their experiences with SIL.  The booklet has been 
finished and printed and will be distributed to the relevant 
organisations.
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FUNDING AND GRANTS 
SUFY as at June 2019, receives 
funding from five different grants 
from both Federal and 
Queensland Governments.  These 
grants, listed below, have differing 
agreement end dates which 
presents issues for SUFY in 
forward planning for budgeting 
and the future.  These grants all 
have different reporting criteria.  
SUFY was happy to have funding 
from NDAP extended until 2022 
and wish to thank the Federal 
Government.  The uncertainty of 
the funding for the Department of 
Communities, Disability Services 
and Seniors Agreement makes 
long term planning difficult.  To 
date there has been no 
commitment from any 
Queensland political party to 
continue the funding for Disability 
Advocacy from a Queensland 
State Government level.

Federal Government –

• National Disability Advocacy 
Program (NDAP) - Agreement 
End Date June 2022

• National Disability Insurance 
Scheme Appeals (NDIS Appeals) 
- Agreement End Date June 
2022

• Information Linkages and 
Capacity Building (ILC) - 
Agreement End Date May 2020

• Disability Royal Commission 
Advocacy Support (DRC) – 
Agreement End Date June 2022

Queensland Government – 
• Department of Communities, 

Disability Services and Seniors - 
Agreement End Date June 2021

STAFF
Both the Chairperson and 
Manager of SUFY would like to 
thank the staff and committee for 
their dedication and tireless work 
over the last year. We realise that 
the working conditions were not 
ideal due to COVID and we would 
like to thank you for your flexibility 
and effort during this time.

INDIVIDUAL ADVOCACY CASE STUDIES

CASE STUDY ONE:
Bob wanted to continue living in his rented home when NDIS funding 
came around. Bob refused to move when he was told he must share 
NDIS supports with a new co-tenant because he required 24/7 
supports. When Bob refused to move to a SIL arrangement, the 
public trust applied for the appointment of a public guardian and 
Bob’s capacity for decision making was challenged at QCAT.  A 
clinical psychologist found Bob did have capacity for his own 
decisions, but QCAT appointed a Public Guardian anyway.  

When Bob refused to move from his home to a group home, the 
Public Guardian had the police escort Bob to his new group SIL home 
on the other side of town far away from anything he knew.  Bob went 
on a hunger strike and withdrew from his life.

The Public Guardian attended an NDIA review of Bob’s plan by 
phone, having never met Bob.  Bob wanted to return to his old home 
and had his NDIS goals and vision statement ready.  However, the 
Public Guardian advised Bob he could not identify or name his goals, 
as she was his appointed NDIS decision maker as well.  

SUFY appealed Bob’s guardianship case at QCAT and more 
assessments of Bob’s decision-making capacity were conducted.  The 
Public Guardian refused to allow Bob’s NDIS funds to cover the cost 
of Bob’s chosen clinical psychologist because she did not want Bob 
to continue with assessments for his capacity.  The Public Guardian 
held the view that she was Bob’s appointed NDIS decision maker for 
his NDIS funding, even though she was not his appointed decision 
maker for health. 

Bob proved his capacity again, and won the QCAT appeal, retaining 
his decision-making capacity for all matters.  He returned to his 
home.   However, the NDIA still tried to force Bob into a SIL 
arrangement without even looking at his health and OT reports.  Even 
though Bob requires 24/7 support, the NDIA planner told Bob, there 
will be no 24/7 supports if he does not accept a SIL arrangement. 

There has been a reprieve for 12 months.  Through our advocacy 
work, Bob’s QCAT appeal was successful and he makes his own 
decisions; Bob got the 24/7 NDIS support he requires; he returned to 
his house;  he picks his own support workers; he chooses his own 
therapists; he is now very happy with his life.   

CASE STUDY TWO:
Jan lived at home until 2007 then moved into care when she turned 
18. Over this time she lived in 10 different homes and has been 
subjected to ongoing physical and verbal abuse from a string of 
mismatched cotenant’s and inappropriate support workers that she 
was forced to live with. At one time the situation became unbearable 
for Jan and she started to “abscond” from her residence as she felt 
safer sleeping in parks then in her home. During this time she was 
placed on medication for anxiety and developed some self-harming 
behaviours. The last assault occurred in April 2019 when Jan’s 
cotenant put his arms around her neck and squeezed her tightly. 
Despite this horrific history Jan was funded under a SIL arrangement 
and is requesting a review so that she can live on her own.



ADVOCACY CONTINUING THROUGH COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic has been a difficult and stressful time for the 
people with a disability that SUFY advocates for. Whilst people with a 
disability have been subject to their normal restrictions that other citizens 
have experienced, they have faced extra layers of restriction stemming 
from their disability that others in our society have not had to endure.

People with a disability were subject to the same restrictions that other 
citizens confronted such as being in lockdown, having restricted access 
to shopping and other services and being separated from family and 
friends. Much like other people they find these restrictions 
cumbersome, isolating and uncertain. Much like other citizens, people 
with a disability find the COVID-19 restrictions sometimes vague and 
arbitrary. Much like other citizens they hope that the restrictions will end 
sometime soon. Nevertheless, they have borne the shared restrictions 
with fortitude and little complaint. 

Unlike other citizens people with a disability experience an added layer 
of disadvantage that stems from having to rely on others to have their 
basic needs met. During COVID-19 people with a disability found that 
these added restrictions impacted seriously on the support that they 
received. Some examples were:

• Young people living in nursing homes not being allowed to go outside 
and not being able to access the community with support workers.

• People with a disability in boarding houses, that are classified as being 
homeless were prevented from leaving the boarding-house by the 
landlord. This prevented them from accessing community access 
workers in the community when restrictions started to loosen, and 
other citizens started to undertake activities.

• People in the group homes being prevented from having visitors, 
family, friends, and community access workers when others in the 
community enjoyed relaxed restrictions and started to undertake 
community activities.

• People with disabilities that had a NDIS plan review were told that 
NDIS planners were not having face-to-face meetings. Some people 
with a disability found that this disadvantaged them in reviews held 
over the phone. Phone only NDIS reviews meant that some people 
with a disability could not hear the questions or see subtle facial 
queues of the reviewer.  They may then not understand the reviewer 
questions and miss out on vital supports in their plan.

• Some people with a disability relying on support workers for basic 
care such as eating, bathing and washing were left with no supports 
due to COVID-19. Without explanation from their support services 

Having a DRC Advocate 
explain how to do a 
submission made it so much 
less daunting.  Its been hard 
to do but with her support 
has been worthwhile.
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SNAPSHOT OF 
SUFY’S WORK 
FOR THE YEAR

INDIVIDUAL ADVOCACY CASE STUDIES

CASE STUDY ONE:
Bob wanted to continue living in his rented home when NDIS funding 
came around. Bob refused to move when he was told he must share 
NDIS supports with a new co-tenant because he required 24/7 
supports. When Bob refused to move to a SIL arrangement, the 
public trust applied for the appointment of a public guardian and 
Bob’s capacity for decision making was challenged at QCAT.  A 
clinical psychologist found Bob did have capacity for his own 
decisions, but QCAT appointed a Public Guardian anyway.  

When Bob refused to move from his home to a group home, the 
Public Guardian had the police escort Bob to his new group SIL home 
on the other side of town far away from anything he knew.  Bob went 
on a hunger strike and withdrew from his life.

The Public Guardian attended an NDIA review of Bob’s plan by 
phone, having never met Bob.  Bob wanted to return to his old home 
and had his NDIS goals and vision statement ready.  However, the 
Public Guardian advised Bob he could not identify or name his goals, 
as she was his appointed NDIS decision maker as well.  

SUFY appealed Bob’s guardianship case at QCAT and more 
assessments of Bob’s decision-making capacity were conducted.  The 
Public Guardian refused to allow Bob’s NDIS funds to cover the cost 
of Bob’s chosen clinical psychologist because she did not want Bob 
to continue with assessments for his capacity.  The Public Guardian 
held the view that she was Bob’s appointed NDIS decision maker for 
his NDIS funding, even though she was not his appointed decision 
maker for health. 

Bob proved his capacity again, and won the QCAT appeal, retaining 
his decision-making capacity for all matters.  He returned to his 
home.   However, the NDIA still tried to force Bob into a SIL 
arrangement without even looking at his health and OT reports.  Even 
though Bob requires 24/7 support, the NDIA planner told Bob, there 
will be no 24/7 supports if he does not accept a SIL arrangement. 

There has been a reprieve for 12 months.  Through our advocacy 
work, Bob’s QCAT appeal was successful and he makes his own 
decisions; Bob got the 24/7 NDIS support he requires; he returned to 
his house;  he picks his own support workers; he chooses his own 
therapists; he is now very happy with his life.   

CASE STUDY TWO:
Jan lived at home until 2007 then moved into care when she turned 
18. Over this time she lived in 10 different homes and has been 
subjected to ongoing physical and verbal abuse from a string of 
mismatched cotenant’s and inappropriate support workers that she 
was forced to live with. At one time the situation became unbearable 
for Jan and she started to “abscond” from her residence as she felt 
safer sleeping in parks then in her home. During this time she was 
placed on medication for anxiety and developed some self-harming 
behaviours. The last assault occurred in April 2019 when Jan’s 
cotenant put his arms around her neck and squeezed her tightly. 
Despite this horrific history Jan was funded under a SIL arrangement 
and is requesting a review so that she can live on her own.

Through great support from 
my advocate I received 
further information and 
education that confirmed the 
strong views I hold.



ADVOCACY CONTINUING THROUGH COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic has been a difficult and stressful time for the 
people with a disability that SUFY advocates for. Whilst people with a 
disability have been subject to their normal restrictions that other citizens 
have experienced, they have faced extra layers of restriction stemming 
from their disability that others in our society have not had to endure.

People with a disability were subject to the same restrictions that other 
citizens confronted such as being in lockdown, having restricted access 
to shopping and other services and being separated from family and 
friends. Much like other people they find these restrictions 
cumbersome, isolating and uncertain. Much like other citizens, people 
with a disability find the COVID-19 restrictions sometimes vague and 
arbitrary. Much like other citizens they hope that the restrictions will end 
sometime soon. Nevertheless, they have borne the shared restrictions 
with fortitude and little complaint. 

Unlike other citizens people with a disability experience an added layer 
of disadvantage that stems from having to rely on others to have their 
basic needs met. During COVID-19 people with a disability found that 
these added restrictions impacted seriously on the support that they 
received. Some examples were:

• Young people living in nursing homes not being allowed to go outside 
and not being able to access the community with support workers.

• People with a disability in boarding houses, that are classified as being 
homeless were prevented from leaving the boarding-house by the 
landlord. This prevented them from accessing community access 
workers in the community when restrictions started to loosen, and 
other citizens started to undertake activities.

• People in the group homes being prevented from having visitors, 
family, friends, and community access workers when others in the 
community enjoyed relaxed restrictions and started to undertake 
community activities.

• People with disabilities that had a NDIS plan review were told that 
NDIS planners were not having face-to-face meetings. Some people 
with a disability found that this disadvantaged them in reviews held 
over the phone. Phone only NDIS reviews meant that some people 
with a disability could not hear the questions or see subtle facial 
queues of the reviewer.  They may then not understand the reviewer 
questions and miss out on vital supports in their plan.

• Some people with a disability relying on support workers for basic 
care such as eating, bathing and washing were left with no supports 
due to COVID-19. Without explanation from their support services 
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and with no COVID-19 backup 
plan in place, people with a 
disability were left in a state of 
neglect. Whilst this does 
happen to people with a 
disability during normal times it 
was more common during 
COVID-19.

SUFY advocates whilst finding 
COVID-19 challenging to our 
work were not faced with the 
life-threatening scenarios that 
confronted the people that we 
advocated for.  During 
COVID-19 SUFY advocates 
were forced to change the way 
that we work. Some of the 
changes such as having to work 
from home and not attending 
face to face meetings unless 
there was no risk to the person 
with a disability. This meant that 
SUFY staff had to learn new 
ways of working.   SUFY staff 
are now more reliant on call 
conferences and telephone 
linkups for meetings. As many 
meetings conducted by services 
and NDIS are unproductive and 
expensive SUFY has found that 
the telephone is a good alter-
native. Whilst SUFY staff miss 
the camaraderie and informa-
tion exchange that working in 
the office allows for, working 
from home has not led to lower 
productivity and in some cases, 
staff have felt more focused and 
less distracted.

During COVID-19, SUFY staff 
have continued to be motivated 
by the determination and 
resoluteness that people with a 
disability and their families 
demonstrate when faced with 
uncertainty and a system that 
considers their needs last. In 
such trying and difficult times, 
people with a disability that we 
advocate for have continually 
challenged and disputed the 
systems and barriers that stand 
between them and a good life 
in community. Even during the 
pandemic, people with a 
disability have brought many 
crucial issues to our attention. 
This is surely a sign that their 
fight for justice in their lives 
cannot be silenced.

DISABILITY ROYAL COMMISSION ADVOCACY 

Throughout my time with SUFY in this role since November last year I 
have gone to great lengths to use my skills to inform people using my 
existing contacts in the media and disability community about the 
Disability Royal Commission (DRC). Even with coronavirus wreaking 
havoc through all of our lives this year, I have tried to find innovative 
ways to get the word out about the DRC and to help people facing 
significant challenges to put together their own submission to the 
commission. As the Commission has continued despite the 
coronavirus, I felt we as advocates had to find a way to do this as well 
and support the commission’s important investigative work. While the 
first few months I found I was meeting many people face to face, I 
have since done interviews with clients over the phone or Zoom, and 
have started just recently to meet with people again if they are 
comfortable with that. 

I have been fascinated by the vastly different approaches needed for 
each of my clients so far and have felt that it is a very good use of my 
journalistic skills. I find each client has different needs, and therefore 
different levels of support and guidance are required. Some clients I 
have asked questions and typed out their answers as they speak, 
others I have taped on my recording equipment and had transcribed, 
and then put together a submission from that basis, others I have 
merely checked their submission that they have already written for 
grammatical errors or legal issues before they are submitted. Each of 
the clients who has made it to the submission stage has been very 
relieved by the process and by having their story heard. Some people 
I have met many times, others I don’t even know what they look like 
as the process has all been done by phone communication.

Also as part of my DRC advocacy role I have done two question and 
answer interviews on the ABC 612 evening show that was broadcast 
throughout Queensland on local radio explaining what the DRC is 
and what my role as an advocate is to help people with their 
submission to the commission. I have also used my personal 
Wandering Journo newsletter which has more than 200 subscribers to 
attach the DRC video explaining what the DRC is and how to make a 
submission, alongside a story I wrote about me and my brother 
Ashley who has an intellectual disability. This was engaged with by 
more than 800 people. I have been guest speaker (via zoom) at a 
Griffith University student lecture explaining the DRC, SUFY, and my 
role, and have also spoken at Elements Lifestyle Living (via zoom) to 
80 people who live at that Springwood Retirement Village about the 
Commission. 

I have used resources the DRC has provided including the DRC video 
extensively as well as links to the hearing dates, and how to make a 
submission guide. I find the regular DRC newsletters to be very useful 
in this regard with new and updated links and information on changes 
to hearing dates because of Covid-19.  I have supported each person 
I have engaged with (around 15 people so far) to understand the 
purpose of the DRC, and how they can make their important 
contribution to it. Not all of these have proceeded to put in a 
submission, but I believe by having that information they could make 
a more informed decision on whether making a submission was right 
for them. I have used the easy to read forms on the DRC website and 
that we have at SUFY and found them very useful for people with 
cognitive disabilities. 

I spend a lot of time explaining the legal risks to people who want to 
make a submission to the DRC. I find most people do not understand 
the potential risks and that information provided to the DRC could be 
accessed (unlikely as this may be) after the Commission is finished. I 

INDIVIDUAL ADVOCACY CASE STUDIES

CASE STUDY ONE:
Bob wanted to continue living in his rented home when NDIS funding 
came around. Bob refused to move when he was told he must share 
NDIS supports with a new co-tenant because he required 24/7 
supports. When Bob refused to move to a SIL arrangement, the 
public trust applied for the appointment of a public guardian and 
Bob’s capacity for decision making was challenged at QCAT.  A 
clinical psychologist found Bob did have capacity for his own 
decisions, but QCAT appointed a Public Guardian anyway.  

When Bob refused to move from his home to a group home, the 
Public Guardian had the police escort Bob to his new group SIL home 
on the other side of town far away from anything he knew.  Bob went 
on a hunger strike and withdrew from his life.

The Public Guardian attended an NDIA review of Bob’s plan by 
phone, having never met Bob.  Bob wanted to return to his old home 
and had his NDIS goals and vision statement ready.  However, the 
Public Guardian advised Bob he could not identify or name his goals, 
as she was his appointed NDIS decision maker as well.  

SUFY appealed Bob’s guardianship case at QCAT and more 
assessments of Bob’s decision-making capacity were conducted.  The 
Public Guardian refused to allow Bob’s NDIS funds to cover the cost 
of Bob’s chosen clinical psychologist because she did not want Bob 
to continue with assessments for his capacity.  The Public Guardian 
held the view that she was Bob’s appointed NDIS decision maker for 
his NDIS funding, even though she was not his appointed decision 
maker for health. 

Bob proved his capacity again, and won the QCAT appeal, retaining 
his decision-making capacity for all matters.  He returned to his 
home.   However, the NDIA still tried to force Bob into a SIL 
arrangement without even looking at his health and OT reports.  Even 
though Bob requires 24/7 support, the NDIA planner told Bob, there 
will be no 24/7 supports if he does not accept a SIL arrangement. 

There has been a reprieve for 12 months.  Through our advocacy 
work, Bob’s QCAT appeal was successful and he makes his own 
decisions; Bob got the 24/7 NDIS support he requires; he returned to 
his house;  he picks his own support workers; he chooses his own 
therapists; he is now very happy with his life.   

CASE STUDY TWO:
Jan lived at home until 2007 then moved into care when she turned 
18. Over this time she lived in 10 different homes and has been 
subjected to ongoing physical and verbal abuse from a string of 
mismatched cotenant’s and inappropriate support workers that she 
was forced to live with. At one time the situation became unbearable 
for Jan and she started to “abscond” from her residence as she felt 
safer sleeping in parks then in her home. During this time she was 
placed on medication for anxiety and developed some self-harming 
behaviours. The last assault occurred in April 2019 when Jan’s 
cotenant put his arms around her neck and squeezed her tightly. 
Despite this horrific history Jan was funded under a SIL arrangement 
and is requesting a review so that she can live on her own.

know the DRC is trying to have 
this legislation rectified and has 
appealed to the federal 
government to change 
legislation to protect all 
information given to the DRC 
even after the commission has 
finished, not just that 
information provided in private 
sessions. But I find that this 
issue concerns many people 
considering giving a submission 
and in fact puts some of them 
off entirely as they want to 
avoid any more risk when they 
are already traumatised by 
what’s happened to them or 
their loved one. 

Every client who I have helped 
so far, I have sought legal 
advice from the Your Story legal 
team to ensure they are safe 
giving the information they 
want to give, or how to provide 
the level of legal protection 
they need. It does get tricky for 
advocates when people with 
disabilities and mental health 
issues sometimes decide to go 
against this legal advice though 
and puts us in a difficult and 
conflicted position. I do explain 
that the evidence given in a 
public hearing, private hearing 
or private written submission 
are all treated with the same 
weight by the Commissioners in 
their final report.

I have found my expertise, 
contacts and previous 
experience working with 
culturally and linguistically 
diverse (CALD) and Aboriginal 
communities has informed my 
work. I will be interviewed by 
the multicultural station 4EB in 
coming weeks about the DRC 
and its role and hope that 
spreads the word about the 
commission to this important 
community. 

One of the most difficult issues I 
have found so far has been 
equity related - and how many 
people lack access to even the 
most basic IT equipment, even 
basic computers, for writing 
submissions. Of course, with 
COVID-19 that was further 
complicated by the closure of 
university campuses and 
libraries where many of these 

people were able to work on collective equipment and WIFI 
resources. I have liaised with SUFY to loan a laptop to one person 
who didn't have one and who was writing her submission on her 
phone and have assisted a First Nations client with her request for a 
private session. She will need assistance with that as she has limited 
access to data and internet at her home, and all of the private 
sessions at the moment are done remotely via Zoom. This has shown 
the impact of COVID-19 on these processes too.

Each person I have assisted I always include information for SUFY 
records and information on the DRC including the free counselling 
services (Micah Projects) that the federal government has provided if 
needed. I have found the clients I have worked with to be very 
grateful for this free counselling support. If it was not free, I doubt 
they would have accessed it.

Most of the people I have worked with so far have had other needs 
not related to the DRC whether that be NDIS assistance, housing 
assistance or legal advice, and I have referred them onto agencies 
that can help them.

Advocacy has been a crucial aspect for all the people who I have 
helped so far to demystify the process and explain that the 
commission wants to hear from them in their own words, not 
necessarily a big fully referenced academic thesis. I have found this to 
be one of the most important aspects of the commission’s work that I 
explain - that the Commission is willing to accept submissions in 
written form, audio, or even artwork. A submission can be as short as 
a couple of paragraphs or as long as thousands of words. Everyone I 
have worked with to the submission stage has expressed to me they 
would not have proceeded without advocacy assistance.

One mother I have helped to tell her story about the decades of 
institutional abuse her son has suffered. She was quite overwhelmed 
with the process as the abuse extended over such a long period of 
time, so she found it helpful for me to do a question and answer 
session which we recorded and had transcribed, and are writing her 
submission from there. That process is still continuing, and we have 
met half a dozen times. I find this to be a common experience, and 
that people really don’t want to talk about these traumatic 
experiences for more than about an hour at a time, so numerous 
meetings are often needed and should be supported.

I have worked with two First Nations clients so far. One is giving a 
private submission regarding the issues her son faces at school, 
health and society. I have worked with her for over four months 
meeting with her face to face at various locations until Covid-19 
spread, and then after that delay we have reconnected recently to 
complete her background submission which is part of her request for 
a private session. She is extremely pleased with the process so far 
and says the support SUFY and I have provided has been essential in 
helping her tell her story, and that she probably wouldn't have 
proceeded otherwise. Meeting her face to face was a crucial part of 
this, given her First Nations background and the importance placed 
on meeting people in that cultural context. The other Indigenous 
autistic woman I helped I met with three times prior to Covid-19, we 
were making good progress on getting her submission together but 
once Covid-19 became so prevalent she felt she could not continue 
even by electronic communications as it was all too much for her 
underlying anxiety issues and she dropped out of the process. I hope 
to reconnect with her in six months once COVID has hopefully settled 
down a bit and we can meet again safely to pick up where we left off.

It has been a privilege to help the people I have met this past year, 
and one I take to heart helping them tell their stories of violence, 
abuse, neglect and/or exploitation for this vital DRC investigation.

Nance Haxton



ADVOCACY CONTINUING THROUGH COVID-19
The COVID-19 pandemic has been a difficult and stressful time for the 
people with a disability that SUFY advocates for. Whilst people with a 
disability have been subject to their normal restrictions that other citizens 
have experienced, they have faced extra layers of restriction stemming 
from their disability that others in our society have not had to endure.

People with a disability were subject to the same restrictions that other 
citizens confronted such as being in lockdown, having restricted access 
to shopping and other services and being separated from family and 
friends. Much like other people they find these restrictions 
cumbersome, isolating and uncertain. Much like other citizens, people 
with a disability find the COVID-19 restrictions sometimes vague and 
arbitrary. Much like other citizens they hope that the restrictions will end 
sometime soon. Nevertheless, they have borne the shared restrictions 
with fortitude and little complaint. 

Unlike other citizens people with a disability experience an added layer 
of disadvantage that stems from having to rely on others to have their 
basic needs met. During COVID-19 people with a disability found that 
these added restrictions impacted seriously on the support that they 
received. Some examples were:

• Young people living in nursing homes not being allowed to go outside 
and not being able to access the community with support workers.

• People with a disability in boarding houses, that are classified as being 
homeless were prevented from leaving the boarding-house by the 
landlord. This prevented them from accessing community access 
workers in the community when restrictions started to loosen, and 
other citizens started to undertake activities.

• People in the group homes being prevented from having visitors, 
family, friends, and community access workers when others in the 
community enjoyed relaxed restrictions and started to undertake 
community activities.

• People with disabilities that had a NDIS plan review were told that 
NDIS planners were not having face-to-face meetings. Some people 
with a disability found that this disadvantaged them in reviews held 
over the phone. Phone only NDIS reviews meant that some people 
with a disability could not hear the questions or see subtle facial 
queues of the reviewer.  They may then not understand the reviewer 
questions and miss out on vital supports in their plan.

• Some people with a disability relying on support workers for basic 
care such as eating, bathing and washing were left with no supports 
due to COVID-19. Without explanation from their support services 
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DISABILITY ROYAL COMMISSION ADVOCACY 

Throughout my time with SUFY in this role since November last year I 
have gone to great lengths to use my skills to inform people using my 
existing contacts in the media and disability community about the 
Disability Royal Commission (DRC). Even with coronavirus wreaking 
havoc through all of our lives this year, I have tried to find innovative 
ways to get the word out about the DRC and to help people facing 
significant challenges to put together their own submission to the 
commission. As the Commission has continued despite the 
coronavirus, I felt we as advocates had to find a way to do this as well 
and support the commission’s important investigative work. While the 
first few months I found I was meeting many people face to face, I 
have since done interviews with clients over the phone or Zoom, and 
have started just recently to meet with people again if they are 
comfortable with that. 

I have been fascinated by the vastly different approaches needed for 
each of my clients so far and have felt that it is a very good use of my 
journalistic skills. I find each client has different needs, and therefore 
different levels of support and guidance are required. Some clients I 
have asked questions and typed out their answers as they speak, 
others I have taped on my recording equipment and had transcribed, 
and then put together a submission from that basis, others I have 
merely checked their submission that they have already written for 
grammatical errors or legal issues before they are submitted. Each of 
the clients who has made it to the submission stage has been very 
relieved by the process and by having their story heard. Some people 
I have met many times, others I don’t even know what they look like 
as the process has all been done by phone communication.

Also as part of my DRC advocacy role I have done two question and 
answer interviews on the ABC 612 evening show that was broadcast 
throughout Queensland on local radio explaining what the DRC is 
and what my role as an advocate is to help people with their 
submission to the commission. I have also used my personal 
Wandering Journo newsletter which has more than 200 subscribers to 
attach the DRC video explaining what the DRC is and how to make a 
submission, alongside a story I wrote about me and my brother 
Ashley who has an intellectual disability. This was engaged with by 
more than 800 people. I have been guest speaker (via zoom) at a 
Griffith University student lecture explaining the DRC, SUFY, and my 
role, and have also spoken at Elements Lifestyle Living (via zoom) to 
80 people who live at that Springwood Retirement Village about the 
Commission. 

I have used resources the DRC has provided including the DRC video 
extensively as well as links to the hearing dates, and how to make a 
submission guide. I find the regular DRC newsletters to be very useful 
in this regard with new and updated links and information on changes 
to hearing dates because of Covid-19.  I have supported each person 
I have engaged with (around 15 people so far) to understand the 
purpose of the DRC, and how they can make their important 
contribution to it. Not all of these have proceeded to put in a 
submission, but I believe by having that information they could make 
a more informed decision on whether making a submission was right 
for them. I have used the easy to read forms on the DRC website and 
that we have at SUFY and found them very useful for people with 
cognitive disabilities. 

I spend a lot of time explaining the legal risks to people who want to 
make a submission to the DRC. I find most people do not understand 
the potential risks and that information provided to the DRC could be 
accessed (unlikely as this may be) after the Commission is finished. I 

INDIVIDUAL ADVOCACY CASE STUDIES

CASE STUDY ONE:
Bob wanted to continue living in his rented home when NDIS funding 
came around. Bob refused to move when he was told he must share 
NDIS supports with a new co-tenant because he required 24/7 
supports. When Bob refused to move to a SIL arrangement, the 
public trust applied for the appointment of a public guardian and 
Bob’s capacity for decision making was challenged at QCAT.  A 
clinical psychologist found Bob did have capacity for his own 
decisions, but QCAT appointed a Public Guardian anyway.  

When Bob refused to move from his home to a group home, the 
Public Guardian had the police escort Bob to his new group SIL home 
on the other side of town far away from anything he knew.  Bob went 
on a hunger strike and withdrew from his life.

The Public Guardian attended an NDIA review of Bob’s plan by 
phone, having never met Bob.  Bob wanted to return to his old home 
and had his NDIS goals and vision statement ready.  However, the 
Public Guardian advised Bob he could not identify or name his goals, 
as she was his appointed NDIS decision maker as well.  

SUFY appealed Bob’s guardianship case at QCAT and more 
assessments of Bob’s decision-making capacity were conducted.  The 
Public Guardian refused to allow Bob’s NDIS funds to cover the cost 
of Bob’s chosen clinical psychologist because she did not want Bob 
to continue with assessments for his capacity.  The Public Guardian 
held the view that she was Bob’s appointed NDIS decision maker for 
his NDIS funding, even though she was not his appointed decision 
maker for health. 

Bob proved his capacity again, and won the QCAT appeal, retaining 
his decision-making capacity for all matters.  He returned to his 
home.   However, the NDIA still tried to force Bob into a SIL 
arrangement without even looking at his health and OT reports.  Even 
though Bob requires 24/7 support, the NDIA planner told Bob, there 
will be no 24/7 supports if he does not accept a SIL arrangement. 

There has been a reprieve for 12 months.  Through our advocacy 
work, Bob’s QCAT appeal was successful and he makes his own 
decisions; Bob got the 24/7 NDIS support he requires; he returned to 
his house;  he picks his own support workers; he chooses his own 
therapists; he is now very happy with his life.   

CASE STUDY TWO:
Jan lived at home until 2007 then moved into care when she turned 
18. Over this time she lived in 10 different homes and has been 
subjected to ongoing physical and verbal abuse from a string of 
mismatched cotenant’s and inappropriate support workers that she 
was forced to live with. At one time the situation became unbearable 
for Jan and she started to “abscond” from her residence as she felt 
safer sleeping in parks then in her home. During this time she was 
placed on medication for anxiety and developed some self-harming 
behaviours. The last assault occurred in April 2019 when Jan’s 
cotenant put his arms around her neck and squeezed her tightly. 
Despite this horrific history Jan was funded under a SIL arrangement 
and is requesting a review so that she can live on her own.

know the DRC is trying to have 
this legislation rectified and has 
appealed to the federal 
government to change 
legislation to protect all 
information given to the DRC 
even after the commission has 
finished, not just that 
information provided in private 
sessions. But I find that this 
issue concerns many people 
considering giving a submission 
and in fact puts some of them 
off entirely as they want to 
avoid any more risk when they 
are already traumatised by 
what’s happened to them or 
their loved one. 

Every client who I have helped 
so far, I have sought legal 
advice from the Your Story legal 
team to ensure they are safe 
giving the information they 
want to give, or how to provide 
the level of legal protection 
they need. It does get tricky for 
advocates when people with 
disabilities and mental health 
issues sometimes decide to go 
against this legal advice though 
and puts us in a difficult and 
conflicted position. I do explain 
that the evidence given in a 
public hearing, private hearing 
or private written submission 
are all treated with the same 
weight by the Commissioners in 
their final report.

I have found my expertise, 
contacts and previous 
experience working with 
culturally and linguistically 
diverse (CALD) and Aboriginal 
communities has informed my 
work. I will be interviewed by 
the multicultural station 4EB in 
coming weeks about the DRC 
and its role and hope that 
spreads the word about the 
commission to this important 
community. 

One of the most difficult issues I 
have found so far has been 
equity related - and how many 
people lack access to even the 
most basic IT equipment, even 
basic computers, for writing 
submissions. Of course, with 
COVID-19 that was further 
complicated by the closure of 
university campuses and 
libraries where many of these 

people were able to work on collective equipment and WIFI 
resources. I have liaised with SUFY to loan a laptop to one person 
who didn't have one and who was writing her submission on her 
phone and have assisted a First Nations client with her request for a 
private session. She will need assistance with that as she has limited 
access to data and internet at her home, and all of the private 
sessions at the moment are done remotely via Zoom. This has shown 
the impact of COVID-19 on these processes too.

Each person I have assisted I always include information for SUFY 
records and information on the DRC including the free counselling 
services (Micah Projects) that the federal government has provided if 
needed. I have found the clients I have worked with to be very 
grateful for this free counselling support. If it was not free, I doubt 
they would have accessed it.

Most of the people I have worked with so far have had other needs 
not related to the DRC whether that be NDIS assistance, housing 
assistance or legal advice, and I have referred them onto agencies 
that can help them.

Advocacy has been a crucial aspect for all the people who I have 
helped so far to demystify the process and explain that the 
commission wants to hear from them in their own words, not 
necessarily a big fully referenced academic thesis. I have found this to 
be one of the most important aspects of the commission’s work that I 
explain - that the Commission is willing to accept submissions in 
written form, audio, or even artwork. A submission can be as short as 
a couple of paragraphs or as long as thousands of words. Everyone I 
have worked with to the submission stage has expressed to me they 
would not have proceeded without advocacy assistance.

One mother I have helped to tell her story about the decades of 
institutional abuse her son has suffered. She was quite overwhelmed 
with the process as the abuse extended over such a long period of 
time, so she found it helpful for me to do a question and answer 
session which we recorded and had transcribed, and are writing her 
submission from there. That process is still continuing, and we have 
met half a dozen times. I find this to be a common experience, and 
that people really don’t want to talk about these traumatic 
experiences for more than about an hour at a time, so numerous 
meetings are often needed and should be supported.

I have worked with two First Nations clients so far. One is giving a 
private submission regarding the issues her son faces at school, 
health and society. I have worked with her for over four months 
meeting with her face to face at various locations until Covid-19 
spread, and then after that delay we have reconnected recently to 
complete her background submission which is part of her request for 
a private session. She is extremely pleased with the process so far 
and says the support SUFY and I have provided has been essential in 
helping her tell her story, and that she probably wouldn't have 
proceeded otherwise. Meeting her face to face was a crucial part of 
this, given her First Nations background and the importance placed 
on meeting people in that cultural context. The other Indigenous 
autistic woman I helped I met with three times prior to Covid-19, we 
were making good progress on getting her submission together but 
once Covid-19 became so prevalent she felt she could not continue 
even by electronic communications as it was all too much for her 
underlying anxiety issues and she dropped out of the process. I hope 
to reconnect with her in six months once COVID has hopefully settled 
down a bit and we can meet again safely to pick up where we left off.

It has been a privilege to help the people I have met this past year, 
and one I take to heart helping them tell their stories of violence, 
abuse, neglect and/or exploitation for this vital DRC investigation.

Nance Haxton

By the time advocates, parents, 
and or carers reach wanting to 
submit to the DRC, things are 
quite dire for either their child, 
young adult they advocate for, 
or themselves. 

Before contact with SUFY and 
my DRC Advocate, a 
submission was just a wish, a 
hope for systemic change, an 
unattainable goal, driven by 
trauma and exhaustion. 

Since engaging with SUFY and 
with an Advocate’s support, I 
am actually starting my 
submission draft, having 
support from an advocate to 
capture my son's experiences 
and my voice, has meant we 
will have been seen, and heard, 
respected and validated. 

Prior to SUFY and my 
advocates assistance, I felt 
beaten down and despondent 
about where to start. 

I am so grateful to the DRC for 
making services available to 
people making a submission. 
Not only support to get our 
stories heard, but to ensure we 
have mental health support, 
and "your story" 
help/knowledge available. 

I understand this is no doubt 
financially expensive, however 
would say, without this amazing 
support, there would be many 
who would not even conceive 
they may enter into this 
process and opportunity we 
have, to be heard and 
contribute towards systemic 
change. 

My experiences with my DRC 
Advocate via SUFY’s 
engagement, have been that 
she is a complete professional 
whilst empathic, respectful, 
knowledgeable, productive 
and very supportive. She has 
been wonderful. 
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DISABILITY ROYAL COMMISSION ADVOCACY 

Throughout my time with SUFY in this role since November last year I 
have gone to great lengths to use my skills to inform people using my 
existing contacts in the media and disability community about the 
Disability Royal Commission (DRC). Even with coronavirus wreaking 
havoc through all of our lives this year, I have tried to find innovative 
ways to get the word out about the DRC and to help people facing 
significant challenges to put together their own submission to the 
commission. As the Commission has continued despite the 
coronavirus, I felt we as advocates had to find a way to do this as well 
and support the commission’s important investigative work. While the 
first few months I found I was meeting many people face to face, I 
have since done interviews with clients over the phone or Zoom, and 
have started just recently to meet with people again if they are 
comfortable with that. 

I have been fascinated by the vastly different approaches needed for 
each of my clients so far and have felt that it is a very good use of my 
journalistic skills. I find each client has different needs, and therefore 
different levels of support and guidance are required. Some clients I 
have asked questions and typed out their answers as they speak, 
others I have taped on my recording equipment and had transcribed, 
and then put together a submission from that basis, others I have 
merely checked their submission that they have already written for 
grammatical errors or legal issues before they are submitted. Each of 
the clients who has made it to the submission stage has been very 
relieved by the process and by having their story heard. Some people 
I have met many times, others I don’t even know what they look like 
as the process has all been done by phone communication.

Also as part of my DRC advocacy role I have done two question and 
answer interviews on the ABC 612 evening show that was broadcast 
throughout Queensland on local radio explaining what the DRC is 
and what my role as an advocate is to help people with their 
submission to the commission. I have also used my personal 
Wandering Journo newsletter which has more than 200 subscribers to 
attach the DRC video explaining what the DRC is and how to make a 
submission, alongside a story I wrote about me and my brother 
Ashley who has an intellectual disability. This was engaged with by 
more than 800 people. I have been guest speaker (via zoom) at a 
Griffith University student lecture explaining the DRC, SUFY, and my 
role, and have also spoken at Elements Lifestyle Living (via zoom) to 
80 people who live at that Springwood Retirement Village about the 
Commission. 

I have used resources the DRC has provided including the DRC video 
extensively as well as links to the hearing dates, and how to make a 
submission guide. I find the regular DRC newsletters to be very useful 
in this regard with new and updated links and information on changes 
to hearing dates because of Covid-19.  I have supported each person 
I have engaged with (around 15 people so far) to understand the 
purpose of the DRC, and how they can make their important 
contribution to it. Not all of these have proceeded to put in a 
submission, but I believe by having that information they could make 
a more informed decision on whether making a submission was right 
for them. I have used the easy to read forms on the DRC website and 
that we have at SUFY and found them very useful for people with 
cognitive disabilities. 

I spend a lot of time explaining the legal risks to people who want to 
make a submission to the DRC. I find most people do not understand 
the potential risks and that information provided to the DRC could be 
accessed (unlikely as this may be) after the Commission is finished. I 

know the DRC is trying to have 
this legislation rectified and has 
appealed to the federal 
government to change 
legislation to protect all 
information given to the DRC 
even after the commission has 
finished, not just that 
information provided in private 
sessions. But I find that this 
issue concerns many people 
considering giving a submission 
and in fact puts some of them 
off entirely as they want to 
avoid any more risk when they 
are already traumatised by 
what’s happened to them or 
their loved one. 

Every client who I have helped 
so far, I have sought legal 
advice from the Your Story legal 
team to ensure they are safe 
giving the information they 
want to give, or how to provide 
the level of legal protection 
they need. It does get tricky for 
advocates when people with 
disabilities and mental health 
issues sometimes decide to go 
against this legal advice though 
and puts us in a difficult and 
conflicted position. I do explain 
that the evidence given in a 
public hearing, private hearing 
or private written submission 
are all treated with the same 
weight by the Commissioners in 
their final report.

I have found my expertise, 
contacts and previous 
experience working with 
culturally and linguistically 
diverse (CALD) and Aboriginal 
communities has informed my 
work. I will be interviewed by 
the multicultural station 4EB in 
coming weeks about the DRC 
and its role and hope that 
spreads the word about the 
commission to this important 
community. 

One of the most difficult issues I 
have found so far has been 
equity related - and how many 
people lack access to even the 
most basic IT equipment, even 
basic computers, for writing 
submissions. Of course, with 
COVID-19 that was further 
complicated by the closure of 
university campuses and 
libraries where many of these 

people were able to work on collective equipment and WIFI 
resources. I have liaised with SUFY to loan a laptop to one person 
who didn't have one and who was writing her submission on her 
phone and have assisted a First Nations client with her request for a 
private session. She will need assistance with that as she has limited 
access to data and internet at her home, and all of the private 
sessions at the moment are done remotely via Zoom. This has shown 
the impact of COVID-19 on these processes too.

Each person I have assisted I always include information for SUFY 
records and information on the DRC including the free counselling 
services (Micah Projects) that the federal government has provided if 
needed. I have found the clients I have worked with to be very 
grateful for this free counselling support. If it was not free, I doubt 
they would have accessed it.

Most of the people I have worked with so far have had other needs 
not related to the DRC whether that be NDIS assistance, housing 
assistance or legal advice, and I have referred them onto agencies 
that can help them.

Advocacy has been a crucial aspect for all the people who I have 
helped so far to demystify the process and explain that the 
commission wants to hear from them in their own words, not 
necessarily a big fully referenced academic thesis. I have found this to 
be one of the most important aspects of the commission’s work that I 
explain - that the Commission is willing to accept submissions in 
written form, audio, or even artwork. A submission can be as short as 
a couple of paragraphs or as long as thousands of words. Everyone I 
have worked with to the submission stage has expressed to me they 
would not have proceeded without advocacy assistance.

One mother I have helped to tell her story about the decades of 
institutional abuse her son has suffered. She was quite overwhelmed 
with the process as the abuse extended over such a long period of 
time, so she found it helpful for me to do a question and answer 
session which we recorded and had transcribed, and are writing her 
submission from there. That process is still continuing, and we have 
met half a dozen times. I find this to be a common experience, and 
that people really don’t want to talk about these traumatic 
experiences for more than about an hour at a time, so numerous 
meetings are often needed and should be supported.

I have worked with two First Nations clients so far. One is giving a 
private submission regarding the issues her son faces at school, 
health and society. I have worked with her for over four months 
meeting with her face to face at various locations until Covid-19 
spread, and then after that delay we have reconnected recently to 
complete her background submission which is part of her request for 
a private session. She is extremely pleased with the process so far 
and says the support SUFY and I have provided has been essential in 
helping her tell her story, and that she probably wouldn't have 
proceeded otherwise. Meeting her face to face was a crucial part of 
this, given her First Nations background and the importance placed 
on meeting people in that cultural context. The other Indigenous 
autistic woman I helped I met with three times prior to Covid-19, we 
were making good progress on getting her submission together but 
once Covid-19 became so prevalent she felt she could not continue 
even by electronic communications as it was all too much for her 
underlying anxiety issues and she dropped out of the process. I hope 
to reconnect with her in six months once COVID has hopefully settled 
down a bit and we can meet again safely to pick up where we left off.

It has been a privilege to help the people I have met this past year, 
and one I take to heart helping them tell their stories of violence, 
abuse, neglect and/or exploitation for this vital DRC investigation.

Nance Haxton
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be one of the most important aspects of the commission’s work that I 
explain - that the Commission is willing to accept submissions in 
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One mother I have helped to tell her story about the decades of 
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with the process as the abuse extended over such a long period of 
time, so she found it helpful for me to do a question and answer 
session which we recorded and had transcribed, and are writing her 
submission from there. That process is still continuing, and we have 
met half a dozen times. I find this to be a common experience, and 
that people really don’t want to talk about these traumatic 
experiences for more than about an hour at a time, so numerous 
meetings are often needed and should be supported.

I have worked with two First Nations clients so far. One is giving a 
private submission regarding the issues her son faces at school, 
health and society. I have worked with her for over four months 
meeting with her face to face at various locations until Covid-19 
spread, and then after that delay we have reconnected recently to 
complete her background submission which is part of her request for 
a private session. She is extremely pleased with the process so far 
and says the support SUFY and I have provided has been essential in 
helping her tell her story, and that she probably wouldn't have 
proceeded otherwise. Meeting her face to face was a crucial part of 
this, given her First Nations background and the importance placed 
on meeting people in that cultural context. The other Indigenous 
autistic woman I helped I met with three times prior to Covid-19, we 
were making good progress on getting her submission together but 
once Covid-19 became so prevalent she felt she could not continue 
even by electronic communications as it was all too much for her 
underlying anxiety issues and she dropped out of the process. I hope 
to reconnect with her in six months once COVID has hopefully settled 
down a bit and we can meet again safely to pick up where we left off.

It has been a privilege to help the people I have met this past year, 
and one I take to heart helping them tell their stories of violence, 
abuse, neglect and/or exploitation for this vital DRC investigation.

Nance Haxton

CONNECTING PARENTS AND 
SUPPORTS……KEEPING 
FAMILIES TOGETHER
In early 2020, there was a call for ideas 
for targeted, time-limited, individual 
advocacy project proposals to address 
gaps in current service provision.

It was identified that parents who have 
an intellectual disability have unique 
support and advocacy needs and are a 
group who are underrepresented in 
evidence based, on the ground service 
provision and advocacy. 

A three-part Project Proposal was 
written to address:

1. Limited knowledge among 
service providers of the unique 
needs and best practice when 
working with parents who have 
intellectual disability

2. The gap in services available to 
support parents to seek access 
to the National Disability 
Insurance Scheme (NDIS)

3. The lack of evidence-based 
resources to assist parents who 
have an intellectual disability 
learn new parenting skills

Connecting Parents and 
Supports…..Keeping Families Together 
(CPS) was developed in response to 
the above gaps in service provision. 

CPS is a three-part program, 
comprised of the following:

Part One
Evidence based training sessions 
delivered by staff of the Parenting 
Research Centre in Melbourne to 
encourage new ways of thinking for 
those who engage with parents who 
have a disability. This two-day training 
session is to be delivered in Brisbane 
to an audience of up to 35 service 
providers/advocates. 

Part Two
Support parents to become access met 
with the NDIS to ensure they have 
funding to provide disability specific 
parenting supports and training.

Part Three
Employ and support two parents to 
identify and develop resources that are 
accessible to parents who have an 
intellectual disability to learn new 
parenting skills

UPDATE
Due to COVID 19 travel restrictions, Part One, training 
delivered by staff from The Parenting Research Centre in 
Melbourne have been unable to travel to Brisbane to deliver 
training to service providers/advocates. This training is to be 
rescheduled to be delivered once the boarders between 
Victoria and Queensland are opened and travel can resume. 
There has been considerable interest among service providers 
to take part in this training once it can be delivered.

Part Two of the CPS Project has generated more interest than 
originally anticipated. Parents have been referred by staff from: 
Child Safety, The Mater Hospital Parent Aid Program, Priceless 
House staff, and the Community Living Association. To date, six 
parents have been supported to access the NDIS. Four of these 
parents are now access met, one is waiting to hear if she has 
been accepted into the scheme and one parent was unable to 
remain involved due to personal circumstances.

One parent had attempted to access the NDIS on three 
occasions over 18 months. On the first two occasions, the 
parent had her application withdrawn due to not being 
contactable to provide further information. On the third 
occasion the parent was declined access. Following an 
interview and support through the CPS program to contact the 
National Disability Insurance Agency, the parent was granted 
access to the NDIS. The parent was supported to attend her 
planning meeting and to appoint a support coordinator. The 
parent was allocated approximately $90 000 in funding to 
support her to achieve her goal to parent her children. 
Following the parent being approved for NDIS funding, Child 
Safety have returned her two children (aged approx. 3 years 
and 6 months) to her care.

Part Three of the Project is to commence this month (October 
2020). Two parents with disability will be employed for three 
hours a week over a six-month period to identify and develop 
resources which are accessible to parents who have an 
intellectual disability. It is expected that these parents will 
provide crucial insights into appropriate resources which will 
build the skills and knowledge of parents who have an 
intellectual disability. Upon development, these resources will 
be available for sale and targeted towards service providers 
who are teaching parenting skills to parents who have an 
intellectual disability.

To date the CPS program has seen great success. There was a 
lot of interest from service providers for the parents they work 
with to be supported to access the NDIS. There has been 
positive feedback provided by service providers about this 
aspect of the CPS.

It is expected that once the borders between Victoria and 
Queensland are open and the educators from the Parenting 
Research Centre are able to travel and deliver the training to 
service providers, knowledge within the sector of the ability of 
parents who have an intellectual disability to parent their 
children and evidence-based best practice in working with this 
group of parents is provided, service providers will be better 
equipped to work with this group of parents effectively.

Likewise, it is expected that there will be positive outcomes 
from the development of resources by parents who have an 
intellectual disability in providing appropriate teaching tools 
which are accessible to parents who have an intellectual 
disability.
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HOW CAN SUFY HELP?
SUFY’s NDIS Appeals Officer can 
provide a range of supports and 
help a person understand their 
rights. Supports can include 
assisting the applicant to 
understand their NDIA plan, 
navigate the appeals process, 
assist with preparation of 
required documents, attend AAT 
conferences and hearings with 
applicant or supporting applicant 
to put their own cases before the 
AAT. This support is free and 
independent. 

access the NDIS, have adequate evidence to support their 
applications and not everyone can afford to pay a specialist to assess 
them and write a report that is likely to be suitable to the NDIA.  
This is an ongoing concern, as it means that there are likely to be a 
number of people who are denied access or who receive deficient 
plans, because of factors unrelated to their disability and support 
requirements.  We have been able to assist some people during the 
review process to access reports and assessments that may have been 
written for other purposes (for e.g., Centrelink assessments for 
Disability Support Pension), but can be used by the NDIA to assess 
eligibility or support requirements.  In some cases, during the internal 
review process, the NDIA has agreed to fund reports to assist in 
assessing a person’s eligibility, as well as their support needs.  This has 
been extremely helpful.  We are not aware of criteria for this process, 
but it appears to be decided by the NDIA on a case by case basis.                              

DISABILITY ROYAL COMMISSION CASE STUDIES
FIRST NATIONS
One is giving a private submission regarding the issues her son faces 
at school, health and society. We have worked with her for over four 
months meeting with her until Covid-19 spread, and we have 
reconnected recently to complete her background submission which is 
part of her request for a private session. She is extremely pleased with 
the process so far and says the support SUFY have provided has been 
essential in helping her tell her story, and that she probably wouldn't 
have proceeded otherwise. Meeting her face to face was a crucial part 
of this, given her First Nations background and the importance placed 
on meeting people in that cultural context. 

The other Indigenous autistic woman helped was met three times prior 
to Covid-19, we were making good progress and getting her 
submission together but once COVID broke out she felt she could not 
continue even by electronic communications as it was all too much for 
her underlying anxiety issues and she dropped out of the process. We 
hope to reconnect with her in six months once COVID has hopefully 
settled down a bit and we can meet again safely to pick up where we 
left off.

DRC CASE STUDY
A female person expressed a desire to receive support so that she 
could write her own submission to the DRC.  This person did not have 
access to a computer so had been attempting to write it on her 
phone.  SUFY loaned a laptop to her enabling her to write her own 
submission as this was the way she wanted to tell her story.

FEEDBACK - DISABILITY ROYAL COMMISSION 
I just wanted to provide some feedback to SUFY around having 
support to make a submission to the DRC in regard to Education, 
Disability and abuse. 

I feel absolutely grateful to SUFY for providing an opportunity to work 
with a support worker/social worker/advocate so that I can find a way 
to have a voice on behalf of my young son. 

Having support from my DRC advocate, is the difference between 
making a submission, and not being able to. 

I would think I am not the only person going through this submission 
process, that feels the same way. 

REPORT FROM SUFY NDIS APPEALS
The case of NNXF and National Disability Insurance Agency [2019] 
AATA 5552 (23 December 2019) has provided a useful case for some 
clients this year.  The decision was handed down in December 2019.  
The Applicant, who was a participant with an NDIS plan, applied to 
the AAT after almost 6 months had passed and they had not received 
an internal review decision.  While the NDIA then made an internal 
review decision before the AAT heard the matter, the AAT still 
examined whether it (the AAT) had the power (jurisdiction) to hear the 
application.  The majority of the AAT said that the issue was an 
important one for other’s who disagreed with NDIA decisions, where 
their applications for internal review had not been decided in a 
timeframe which could be considered reasonably practicable.  The 
main words from the legislation that the AAT Members needed to 
assess and gain meaning for, were ‘as soon as reasonably practicable’.  
These meaning of a reasonable and practicable timeframe may differ 
for each case, depending on a number of factors, including the 
complexity of the decision.  

In advocating for clients, we have referred to the NNXF case at least 
twice in the year when requesting the NDIA make a decision.  One 
case involved a participant whose funds for essential supports were 
running out and it was likely that the participant would be hospitalised 
in order to receive fundamental ongoing supports.  A number of 
emails were sent to the NDIA from the participant’s Support 
Coordinator and Advocate alerting them to the fact that the funds 
would run out before the end of the plan and the estimated date that 
the funds would last until.  After 5.5 months following the initial 
internal review of decision application, an application was made to the 
AAT.  The AAT made a decision that it had jurisdiction to hear the 
matter and soon after the NDIA made a plan decision acceptable to 
the participant.  Both of these matters relied on the NNXF case 
because the participants were arguing that their plan funds or plan 
supports were insufficient for their needs and they were either going 
to run out of plan funds before an internal review decision was made, 
or that the NDIA were taking too long to make an internal review 
decision.  The principle also applies to those applying for an NDIS 
plan and awaiting a decision by the NDIA.  

We are seeing fewer planning ‘loop cases’ following internal review 
applications - where the NDIA continuously hands down new planning 
decisions, rather than making an internal review decision.  In one case 
this year, approximately 5 months passed since the internal review 
application over the telephone, with a series of plan decisions made 
over a short period of time.  There was no plan decision made by the 
NDIA, therefore an application was made to the AAT for external 
review. 

The NDIS process remains a clunky and stressful process for many of 
the participants who contact us.  While many of those instructing us 
reach agreement with the NDIA during the internal or external review 
process, some people find it too stressful and decide to discontinue 
their application.  While they can apply again for access in the future 
or seek reviews of new plan decisions, this may be unlikely if the 
process remains the same.  Not everyone, especially those applying to 

The NDIS Appeals process is 
an important process as it 
helps ensure NDIA decisions 
are fair and robust. Cases 
brought to the 
Administrative Appeals 
Tribunal (AAT) influence how 
the NDIS is implemented 
and operationalised. The 
review process ensures the 
NDIA decisions are correct 
and preferable. 

SUFY has and will continue 
to use different formats to 
ensure people are aware of 
their right to appeal a NDIA 
decision that directly impacts 
upon them which they feel is 
wrong and that there is 
support available to do this. 



 

NDIS & THE ROLE 
OF ADVOCACY
Independent individual 
advocacy has an important 
role in ensuring choice and 
control, the aims of the 
NDIA, is realised for all 
individuals with a disability.  

People with disabilities 
throughout the NDIS 
consultation were very 
clear that there would be 
an ongoing need for 
independent advocacy to 
ensure people were well 
positioned to maximise 
the opportunities the 
NDIS presents. 

Advocates can assist 
people to navigate through 
the complex choices and 
decision making that would 
come through the NDIS 
system.

Strong independent 
advocacy is important to 
all people with disabilities 
who experience or are 
vulnerable to discrimination, 
neglect, abuse and
exploitation and whose 
human rights are commonly 
ignored. 
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access the NDIS, have adequate evidence to support their 
applications and not everyone can afford to pay a specialist to assess 
them and write a report that is likely to be suitable to the NDIA.  
This is an ongoing concern, as it means that there are likely to be a 
number of people who are denied access or who receive deficient 
plans, because of factors unrelated to their disability and support 
requirements.  We have been able to assist some people during the 
review process to access reports and assessments that may have been 
written for other purposes (for e.g., Centrelink assessments for 
Disability Support Pension), but can be used by the NDIA to assess 
eligibility or support requirements.  In some cases, during the internal 
review process, the NDIA has agreed to fund reports to assist in 
assessing a person’s eligibility, as well as their support needs.  This has 
been extremely helpful.  We are not aware of criteria for this process, 
but it appears to be decided by the NDIA on a case by case basis.                              

DISABILITY ROYAL COMMISSION CASE STUDIES
FIRST NATIONS
One is giving a private submission regarding the issues her son faces 
at school, health and society. We have worked with her for over four 
months meeting with her until Covid-19 spread, and we have 
reconnected recently to complete her background submission which is 
part of her request for a private session. She is extremely pleased with 
the process so far and says the support SUFY have provided has been 
essential in helping her tell her story, and that she probably wouldn't 
have proceeded otherwise. Meeting her face to face was a crucial part 
of this, given her First Nations background and the importance placed 
on meeting people in that cultural context. 

The other Indigenous autistic woman helped was met three times prior 
to Covid-19, we were making good progress and getting her 
submission together but once COVID broke out she felt she could not 
continue even by electronic communications as it was all too much for 
her underlying anxiety issues and she dropped out of the process. We 
hope to reconnect with her in six months once COVID has hopefully 
settled down a bit and we can meet again safely to pick up where we 
left off.

DRC CASE STUDY
A female person expressed a desire to receive support so that she 
could write her own submission to the DRC.  This person did not have 
access to a computer so had been attempting to write it on her 
phone.  SUFY loaned a laptop to her enabling her to write her own 
submission as this was the way she wanted to tell her story.

FEEDBACK - DISABILITY ROYAL COMMISSION 
I just wanted to provide some feedback to SUFY around having 
support to make a submission to the DRC in regard to Education, 
Disability and abuse. 

I feel absolutely grateful to SUFY for providing an opportunity to work 
with a support worker/social worker/advocate so that I can find a way 
to have a voice on behalf of my young son. 

Having support from my DRC advocate, is the difference between 
making a submission, and not being able to. 

I would think I am not the only person going through this submission 
process, that feels the same way. 

REPORT FROM SUFY NDIS APPEALS
The case of NNXF and National Disability Insurance Agency [2019] 
AATA 5552 (23 December 2019) has provided a useful case for some 
clients this year.  The decision was handed down in December 2019.  
The Applicant, who was a participant with an NDIS plan, applied to 
the AAT after almost 6 months had passed and they had not received 
an internal review decision.  While the NDIA then made an internal 
review decision before the AAT heard the matter, the AAT still 
examined whether it (the AAT) had the power (jurisdiction) to hear the 
application.  The majority of the AAT said that the issue was an 
important one for other’s who disagreed with NDIA decisions, where 
their applications for internal review had not been decided in a 
timeframe which could be considered reasonably practicable.  The 
main words from the legislation that the AAT Members needed to 
assess and gain meaning for, were ‘as soon as reasonably practicable’.  
These meaning of a reasonable and practicable timeframe may differ 
for each case, depending on a number of factors, including the 
complexity of the decision.  

In advocating for clients, we have referred to the NNXF case at least 
twice in the year when requesting the NDIA make a decision.  One 
case involved a participant whose funds for essential supports were 
running out and it was likely that the participant would be hospitalised 
in order to receive fundamental ongoing supports.  A number of 
emails were sent to the NDIA from the participant’s Support 
Coordinator and Advocate alerting them to the fact that the funds 
would run out before the end of the plan and the estimated date that 
the funds would last until.  After 5.5 months following the initial 
internal review of decision application, an application was made to the 
AAT.  The AAT made a decision that it had jurisdiction to hear the 
matter and soon after the NDIA made a plan decision acceptable to 
the participant.  Both of these matters relied on the NNXF case 
because the participants were arguing that their plan funds or plan 
supports were insufficient for their needs and they were either going 
to run out of plan funds before an internal review decision was made, 
or that the NDIA were taking too long to make an internal review 
decision.  The principle also applies to those applying for an NDIS 
plan and awaiting a decision by the NDIA.  

We are seeing fewer planning ‘loop cases’ following internal review 
applications - where the NDIA continuously hands down new planning 
decisions, rather than making an internal review decision.  In one case 
this year, approximately 5 months passed since the internal review 
application over the telephone, with a series of plan decisions made 
over a short period of time.  There was no plan decision made by the 
NDIA, therefore an application was made to the AAT for external 
review. 

The NDIS process remains a clunky and stressful process for many of 
the participants who contact us.  While many of those instructing us 
reach agreement with the NDIA during the internal or external review 
process, some people find it too stressful and decide to discontinue 
their application.  While they can apply again for access in the future 
or seek reviews of new plan decisions, this may be unlikely if the 
process remains the same.  Not everyone, especially those applying to 
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FINANCIAL YEAR 1ST JULY 2019 TO 30TH JUNE 2020
All aspects of the financial control of SUFY are conducted in 
accordance with legislation covering financial governance of 
incorporated associations and SUFY’s policies.

I can report that all SUFY’s monetary obligations are met as and when 
required.  SUFY’s financial obligations to staff for annual leave, sick 
leave, long service leave and redundancy are covered with sufficient 
secured funds available to meet these costs.

The Audited Financial Statements for 2019/2020 financial year show a 
large operating surplus. Administrative expenses were below budget, 
and Employment Expenses were a little below budget. Income was 
boosted from additional one-off payments.

The Operating surplus was a combined result of additional funding 
being granted, underutilisation of funding due to COVID-19 related 
influences, as well as a COVID-19 payment being made to assist 
organisations received from the Australian Taxation Office. SUFY was 
given permission by the Department to carry forward the surplus for 
utilisation in both short term special advocacy projects and also 
employing an extra advocate to allow SUFY to take on extra clients in 
the 2020/21 year. This was recognition that there had been an 
increased need for advocacy as a direct result of the impact of 
COVID-19 on the wellbeing of Persons with Disability.  

SUFY’s financial position remains viable and the organisation will be 
able to continue operations with some additional short-term increase 
in advocacy during the 2020/21 period utilising the operating surplus 
of 2019/20. 

SUFY maintains a standard of excellence during ever changing times. 
With all the issues surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic, the staff of 
SUFY adapted brilliantly to the challenges or working from home and 
coping with both their personal situations while still maintaining the 
advocacy support they provide to persons with disability in our 
community.  

Thank you to all the SUFY staff who assisted me during the year in my 
duties as Treasurer – in particular, our bookkeeper Lucia Forman and 
Kelly Beckitt both of whom made my job a lot easier.

I recommend that the Audited Financial Statements for the year 1st 
July 2019 to 30th June 2020 be accepted by the Annual General 
Meeting of Speaking Up for You Inc.

Mike Barwick
TREASURER
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access the NDIS, have adequate evidence to support their 
applications and not everyone can afford to pay a specialist to assess 
them and write a report that is likely to be suitable to the NDIA.  
This is an ongoing concern, as it means that there are likely to be a 
number of people who are denied access or who receive deficient 
plans, because of factors unrelated to their disability and support 
requirements.  We have been able to assist some people during the 
review process to access reports and assessments that may have been 
written for other purposes (for e.g., Centrelink assessments for 
Disability Support Pension), but can be used by the NDIA to assess 
eligibility or support requirements.  In some cases, during the internal 
review process, the NDIA has agreed to fund reports to assist in 
assessing a person’s eligibility, as well as their support needs.  This has 
been extremely helpful.  We are not aware of criteria for this process, 
but it appears to be decided by the NDIA on a case by case basis.                              

DISABILITY ROYAL COMMISSION CASE STUDIES
FIRST NATIONS
One is giving a private submission regarding the issues her son faces 
at school, health and society. We have worked with her for over four 
months meeting with her until Covid-19 spread, and we have 
reconnected recently to complete her background submission which is 
part of her request for a private session. She is extremely pleased with 
the process so far and says the support SUFY have provided has been 
essential in helping her tell her story, and that she probably wouldn't 
have proceeded otherwise. Meeting her face to face was a crucial part 
of this, given her First Nations background and the importance placed 
on meeting people in that cultural context. 

The other Indigenous autistic woman helped was met three times prior 
to Covid-19, we were making good progress and getting her 
submission together but once COVID broke out she felt she could not 
continue even by electronic communications as it was all too much for 
her underlying anxiety issues and she dropped out of the process. We 
hope to reconnect with her in six months once COVID has hopefully 
settled down a bit and we can meet again safely to pick up where we 
left off.

DRC CASE STUDY
A female person expressed a desire to receive support so that she 
could write her own submission to the DRC.  This person did not have 
access to a computer so had been attempting to write it on her 
phone.  SUFY loaned a laptop to her enabling her to write her own 
submission as this was the way she wanted to tell her story.

FEEDBACK - DISABILITY ROYAL COMMISSION 
I just wanted to provide some feedback to SUFY around having 
support to make a submission to the DRC in regard to Education, 
Disability and abuse. 

I feel absolutely grateful to SUFY for providing an opportunity to work 
with a support worker/social worker/advocate so that I can find a way 
to have a voice on behalf of my young son. 

Having support from my DRC advocate, is the difference between 
making a submission, and not being able to. 

I would think I am not the only person going through this submission 
process, that feels the same way. 

REPORT FROM SUFY NDIS APPEALS
The case of NNXF and National Disability Insurance Agency [2019] 
AATA 5552 (23 December 2019) has provided a useful case for some 
clients this year.  The decision was handed down in December 2019.  
The Applicant, who was a participant with an NDIS plan, applied to 
the AAT after almost 6 months had passed and they had not received 
an internal review decision.  While the NDIA then made an internal 
review decision before the AAT heard the matter, the AAT still 
examined whether it (the AAT) had the power (jurisdiction) to hear the 
application.  The majority of the AAT said that the issue was an 
important one for other’s who disagreed with NDIA decisions, where 
their applications for internal review had not been decided in a 
timeframe which could be considered reasonably practicable.  The 
main words from the legislation that the AAT Members needed to 
assess and gain meaning for, were ‘as soon as reasonably practicable’.  
These meaning of a reasonable and practicable timeframe may differ 
for each case, depending on a number of factors, including the 
complexity of the decision.  

In advocating for clients, we have referred to the NNXF case at least 
twice in the year when requesting the NDIA make a decision.  One 
case involved a participant whose funds for essential supports were 
running out and it was likely that the participant would be hospitalised 
in order to receive fundamental ongoing supports.  A number of 
emails were sent to the NDIA from the participant’s Support 
Coordinator and Advocate alerting them to the fact that the funds 
would run out before the end of the plan and the estimated date that 
the funds would last until.  After 5.5 months following the initial 
internal review of decision application, an application was made to the 
AAT.  The AAT made a decision that it had jurisdiction to hear the 
matter and soon after the NDIA made a plan decision acceptable to 
the participant.  Both of these matters relied on the NNXF case 
because the participants were arguing that their plan funds or plan 
supports were insufficient for their needs and they were either going 
to run out of plan funds before an internal review decision was made, 
or that the NDIA were taking too long to make an internal review 
decision.  The principle also applies to those applying for an NDIS 
plan and awaiting a decision by the NDIA.  

We are seeing fewer planning ‘loop cases’ following internal review 
applications - where the NDIA continuously hands down new planning 
decisions, rather than making an internal review decision.  In one case 
this year, approximately 5 months passed since the internal review 
application over the telephone, with a series of plan decisions made 
over a short period of time.  There was no plan decision made by the 
NDIA, therefore an application was made to the AAT for external 
review. 

The NDIS process remains a clunky and stressful process for many of 
the participants who contact us.  While many of those instructing us 
reach agreement with the NDIA during the internal or external review 
process, some people find it too stressful and decide to discontinue 
their application.  While they can apply again for access in the future 
or seek reviews of new plan decisions, this may be unlikely if the 
process remains the same.  Not everyone, especially those applying to 
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access the NDIS, have adequate evidence to support their 
applications and not everyone can afford to pay a specialist to assess 
them and write a report that is likely to be suitable to the NDIA.  
This is an ongoing concern, as it means that there are likely to be a 
number of people who are denied access or who receive deficient 
plans, because of factors unrelated to their disability and support 
requirements.  We have been able to assist some people during the 
review process to access reports and assessments that may have been 
written for other purposes (for e.g., Centrelink assessments for 
Disability Support Pension), but can be used by the NDIA to assess 
eligibility or support requirements.  In some cases, during the internal 
review process, the NDIA has agreed to fund reports to assist in 
assessing a person’s eligibility, as well as their support needs.  This has 
been extremely helpful.  We are not aware of criteria for this process, 
but it appears to be decided by the NDIA on a case by case basis.                              

DISABILITY ROYAL COMMISSION CASE STUDIES
FIRST NATIONS
One is giving a private submission regarding the issues her son faces 
at school, health and society. We have worked with her for over four 
months meeting with her until Covid-19 spread, and we have 
reconnected recently to complete her background submission which is 
part of her request for a private session. She is extremely pleased with 
the process so far and says the support SUFY have provided has been 
essential in helping her tell her story, and that she probably wouldn't 
have proceeded otherwise. Meeting her face to face was a crucial part 
of this, given her First Nations background and the importance placed 
on meeting people in that cultural context. 

The other Indigenous autistic woman helped was met three times prior 
to Covid-19, we were making good progress and getting her 
submission together but once COVID broke out she felt she could not 
continue even by electronic communications as it was all too much for 
her underlying anxiety issues and she dropped out of the process. We 
hope to reconnect with her in six months once COVID has hopefully 
settled down a bit and we can meet again safely to pick up where we 
left off.

DRC CASE STUDY
A female person expressed a desire to receive support so that she 
could write her own submission to the DRC.  This person did not have 
access to a computer so had been attempting to write it on her 
phone.  SUFY loaned a laptop to her enabling her to write her own 
submission as this was the way she wanted to tell her story.

FEEDBACK - DISABILITY ROYAL COMMISSION 
I just wanted to provide some feedback to SUFY around having 
support to make a submission to the DRC in regard to Education, 
Disability and abuse. 

I feel absolutely grateful to SUFY for providing an opportunity to work 
with a support worker/social worker/advocate so that I can find a way 
to have a voice on behalf of my young son. 

Having support from my DRC advocate, is the difference between 
making a submission, and not being able to. 

I would think I am not the only person going through this submission 
process, that feels the same way. 

REPORT FROM SUFY NDIS APPEALS
The case of NNXF and National Disability Insurance Agency [2019] 
AATA 5552 (23 December 2019) has provided a useful case for some 
clients this year.  The decision was handed down in December 2019.  
The Applicant, who was a participant with an NDIS plan, applied to 
the AAT after almost 6 months had passed and they had not received 
an internal review decision.  While the NDIA then made an internal 
review decision before the AAT heard the matter, the AAT still 
examined whether it (the AAT) had the power (jurisdiction) to hear the 
application.  The majority of the AAT said that the issue was an 
important one for other’s who disagreed with NDIA decisions, where 
their applications for internal review had not been decided in a 
timeframe which could be considered reasonably practicable.  The 
main words from the legislation that the AAT Members needed to 
assess and gain meaning for, were ‘as soon as reasonably practicable’.  
These meaning of a reasonable and practicable timeframe may differ 
for each case, depending on a number of factors, including the 
complexity of the decision.  

In advocating for clients, we have referred to the NNXF case at least 
twice in the year when requesting the NDIA make a decision.  One 
case involved a participant whose funds for essential supports were 
running out and it was likely that the participant would be hospitalised 
in order to receive fundamental ongoing supports.  A number of 
emails were sent to the NDIA from the participant’s Support 
Coordinator and Advocate alerting them to the fact that the funds 
would run out before the end of the plan and the estimated date that 
the funds would last until.  After 5.5 months following the initial 
internal review of decision application, an application was made to the 
AAT.  The AAT made a decision that it had jurisdiction to hear the 
matter and soon after the NDIA made a plan decision acceptable to 
the participant.  Both of these matters relied on the NNXF case 
because the participants were arguing that their plan funds or plan 
supports were insufficient for their needs and they were either going 
to run out of plan funds before an internal review decision was made, 
or that the NDIA were taking too long to make an internal review 
decision.  The principle also applies to those applying for an NDIS 
plan and awaiting a decision by the NDIA.  

We are seeing fewer planning ‘loop cases’ following internal review 
applications - where the NDIA continuously hands down new planning 
decisions, rather than making an internal review decision.  In one case 
this year, approximately 5 months passed since the internal review 
application over the telephone, with a series of plan decisions made 
over a short period of time.  There was no plan decision made by the 
NDIA, therefore an application was made to the AAT for external 
review. 

The NDIS process remains a clunky and stressful process for many of 
the participants who contact us.  While many of those instructing us 
reach agreement with the NDIA during the internal or external review 
process, some people find it too stressful and decide to discontinue 
their application.  While they can apply again for access in the future 
or seek reviews of new plan decisions, this may be unlikely if the 
process remains the same.  Not everyone, especially those applying to 
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INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

  2020 2019
  $ $

 

 

INCOME
Donations  6,740.00  200.00
Grant - Commonwealth Department of Social Services  750,453.48  582,775.99
Grant - State Dept. of Communities, Disability Services & Seniors 113,842.00  110,730.35
Interest received  5,610.97  7,834.23
Sundry income  340.00  380.01
Surplus on disposal of asset  -  7,861.00

Total Income 876,986.45  709,781.58

EXPENDITURE
Audit fees  2,000.00 2,000.00
Consultancy fees  97,532.40 19,146.39
Depreciation  5,702.56  5,390.28
Dues, fees, and subscriptions  3,094.09 3,440.19
Employee entitlements 616,763.44 554,716.51
Individual advocacy  5,816.44 3,205.63
Occupancy costs  51,108.74 50,262.38
Office and administration  22,734.42 18,574.46
Seminars and conference  16,877.59 1,314.90
Sundry expenses  5,481.76 6,043.85
Telephone and internet  8,518.28 9,793.49
Travel expenses  25,673.74 25,348.78

Total Expenditure  861,303.46 699,236.86

Surplus before income tax expense  15,682.99 1 0,544.72

Income tax expense  - -

Surplus after income tax expense for the year 
attributable to the members 15,682.99  10,544.72

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  - -

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the members. 15,682.99 10,544.72
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BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 30 JUNE 2020

  2020 2019
  $ $

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash on hand  177.00 114.35
Cash at bank  324,628.90 221,033.25
Cash on deposit  278,944.58 255,547.72
Other debtors  10,643.72 1,528.25

Total Current Assets  614,394.20 478,223.57

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Improvements at cost  16,694.18 16,694.18
Less accumulated depreciation  (4,931.55) (3,395.19)
Plant and equipment at cost  60,396.24 52,119.87
Less accumulated depreciation  (43,697.94) (39,531.74)
Total Non-Current Assets  28,460.93 25,887.12

TOTAL ASSETS  642,855.13 504,110.69

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade creditors 9,882.38 30,508.42
Other creditors  51,278.93 11,430.23
Provision for employee entitlements  70,361.09 40,357.14
Committed funds  37,080.00 -
Unexpended grants  175,785.00 152,906.15
Total Current Liabilities  344,387.40 235,201.94
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Provision for employee entitlements 94,624.04 80,748.05
Total Non-Current Liabilities  94,624.04 80,748.05

TOTAL LIABILITIES  439,011.44 315,949.99

NET ASSETS 203,843.69 188,160.70

EQUITY
Accumulated surplus 203,843.69 188,160.70
Total Equity  203,843.69 188,160.70

CHANGES TO EQUITY
Accumulated surplus 203,843.69 188,160.70
Total Equity  203,843.69 188,160.70
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CHANGES TO EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

  Accumulated TOTAL
  Surplus $ $

CASHFLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

  2020 2019
  $ $

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers 931,334.33  931,633.75
Payments to suppliers and employees  (801,613.77)  (743,727.81)
Interest received  5,610.97  7,834.23
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 135,331.53  195,740.17

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of assets  -   16,363.64
Payments for purchase of assets  (8,276.37)   (6,693.29)
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities  (8,276.37)   9,670.35

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities  -  -
Net Increase in Cash Held  127,055.16  205,410.52
Cash at the beginning of the year  476,695.32  271,284.80
Cash at the end of the year  603,750.48  476,695.32

Opening balance 1 July 2018  177,615.98 177,615.98
Current year Surplus/(Deficit) 10,544.72 10,544.72

Closing Balance 30 June 2019  188,160.70 188,160.70

Opening balance 1 July 2019 188,160.70 188,160.70
Current year Surplus/(Deficit)  15,682.99 15,682.99

Closing Balance 30 June 2020  203,843.69 203,843.69
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation
In the officers' opinion, the incorporated association is not a reporting entity because there are no users 
dependent on general purpose financial statements.

These are special purpose financial statements that have been prepared for the purposes of complying with 
the Queensland legislation the Associations Incorporation Act 1981 and the Australian Charities and 
Non-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 and regulations. The Committee Members have determined that the 
accounting policies adopted are appropriate to meet the needs of the members.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement 
requirements specified by the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the disclosure requirements of AASB 101 'Presentation of Financial 
Statements', AASB 107 'Statement of Cash Flows', AASB 108 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors', AASB 1048 'Interpretation of Standards' and AASB 1054 'Australian Additional 
Disclosures', as appropriate for not-for-profit oriented entities.

Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the incorporated association's 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the incorporated association 
and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable.

Donations
Donations are recognised at the time the pledge is made.

Interest
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period 
using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Grants
Grants are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, 
and all attached conditions will be complied with.

Other revenue
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

Income tax
As the incorporated association is a non-profit institution in terms of subsection 50-5 of the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997, as amended, it is exempt from paying income tax.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade and other receivables
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to 
the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to form a cashgenerating unit.

Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the incorporated association prior to the 
end of the financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised 
cost and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Employee benefits
Wages and salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in respect of employees' services up 
to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in current and non-current liabilities, depending on the 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. The 
liability is measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given 
to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected 
future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense. Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable 
or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other 
receivables or other payables in the statement of financial position.

NOTE 2: CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its 
judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. 
Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various 
factors, including expectations of future events; management believes to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. 
The judgements estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimation of useful lives of assets
The incorporated association determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation 
charges for its property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change 
significantly as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge 
will increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or 
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down.

Long service leave provision
As discussed in note 1, the liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present value of 
the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining 
the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation 
have been considered.
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NOTE 1: STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation
In the officers' opinion, the incorporated association is not a reporting entity because there are no users 
dependent on general purpose financial statements.

These are special purpose financial statements that have been prepared for the purposes of complying with 
the Queensland legislation the Associations Incorporation Act 1981 and the Australian Charities and 
Non-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 and regulations. The Committee Members have determined that the 
accounting policies adopted are appropriate to meet the needs of the members.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the recognition and measurement 
requirements specified by the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the disclosure requirements of AASB 101 'Presentation of Financial 
Statements', AASB 107 'Statement of Cash Flows', AASB 108 'Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors', AASB 1048 'Interpretation of Standards' and AASB 1054 'Australian Additional 
Disclosures', as appropriate for not-for-profit oriented entities.

Historical cost convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

Critical accounting estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the incorporated association's 
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the incorporated association 
and the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable.

Donations
Donations are recognised at the time the pledge is made.

Interest
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of 
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period 
using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Grants
Grants are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, 
and all attached conditions will be complied with.

Other revenue
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

Income tax
As the incorporated association is a non-profit institution in terms of subsection 50-5 of the Income Tax 
Assessment Act 1997, as amended, it is exempt from paying income tax.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other 
short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Trade and other receivables
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

Impairment of non-financial assets
Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to 
the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. 
Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to form a cashgenerating unit.

Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the incorporated association prior to the 
end of the financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised 
cost and are not discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

Employee benefits
Wages and salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled 
within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in respect of employees' services up 
to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in current and non-current liabilities, depending on the 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. The 
liability is measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given 
to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected 
future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is 
not recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense. Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable 
or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other 
receivables or other payables in the statement of financial position.

NOTE 2: CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its 
judgements and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. 
Management bases its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various 
factors, including expectations of future events; management believes to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. 
The judgements estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimation of useful lives of assets
The incorporated association determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation 
charges for its property, plant and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change 
significantly as a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge 
will increase where the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or 
non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down.

Long service leave provision
As discussed in note 1, the liability for long service leave is recognised and measured at the present value of 
the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting date. In determining 
the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and inflation 
have been considered.
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Responsible Persons Declaration.
Per section 60.15 of the Australian Charities and Non-for-Profits Commission Regulation 2013.
1. the association is not a reporting entity because there are no users dependent on general purpose 

financial statements. Accordingly, as described in note 1 to the financial statements, the attached special 
purpose financial statements have been prepared for the purpose of complying with the Australian 
Charities and Non-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 and regulations.

2.  the attached financial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the association's financial 
position as of 30 June 2020 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date.

3.  there are reasonable grounds to believe that the association will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable.

4.  the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 1981 
and regulations; and

5.  the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits 
Commission Act 2012 and regulations.

Signed in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Non-for-Profits Commission
Regulation 2013.

Chairperson
28 / 09 / 2020

STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF COMMITTEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020

NOTE 3: CASH FLOW INFORMATION

  2020 2019
  $ $

a. reconciliation of cash flows from surplus
Surplus attributable to members  15,682.99 10,544.72
Non-Cash flows in surplus
Depreciation  5,702.56 5,390.28
Profit / (loss) on sale of assets  - (7,861.00)
Changes in assets and liabilities
(Increase) / decrease in receivables  (9,115.47) 10,950.56
Increase / (decrease) in payables & grants  79,181.51 174,792.05
Increase / (decrease) in provisions  43,879.94 1,923.56
 135,331.53 195,740.17
b. reconciliation of cash
Cash on hand  177.00 114.35
Cash at bank  324,628.90 221,033.25
Cash on deposit  278,944.58 255,547.72
Less bank overdraft  - -
Total Cash  603,750.48 476,695.32
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT

 

TO THE MEMBERS OF SPEAKING UP FOR YOU INC.

 

Report on the Financial Report

   
 

Opinion
We have audited the financial report of Speaking Up for You Incorporated, which comprises the statement of
income and expenditure and the balance sheet as at the 30th June 2020, the notes to the financial statement,
including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the Statement by the Members of the Committee.
In our opinion the financial report of Speaking Up for You Incorporated, has been prepared in accordance with
Associations Constitution, including.
1. giving a true and fair view of the association’s financial position as of 30th June 2020 and of its 
 performancefor the year ended on that date.
2.  complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 1, 
 and the Associations Incorporation Act 1981; and
3. the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits
 Commission Act 2012 and regulations.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial report section of our
report. We are independent of the Association in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting
Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that
are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting
We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report is
prepared to assist for the purpose of fulfilling the Association’s financial reporting responsibilities under the
Associations Incorporation Act 1981 and the Australian Charities and Non-for-Profits Commission Act 2012 and
regulations. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report
Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and have
determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 to the financial report is appropriate to meet the
requirements of the Associations Incorporation Act 1981 and to meet the needs of the members. The management’s
responsibility also includes such internal controls as the officers determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial report, Management is responsible for assessing the Association’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless Management either intent to liquidate the Association or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
Management are responsible for overseeing the Association’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian
Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. A further description of our responsibilities
for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at:
http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Independence
In conducting our audit, we followed applicable independence requirements of Australian professional ethical
pronouncements.

__________________________
Jason O’Connor CA
Registered Company Auditor (No. 353931)
Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation
28 / 09 / 2020

Jason O’Connor B. Com CA
PO Box 3361

WARNER QLD 4500
Telephone: (07) 3048 5727

Email: auditor@joconnorptyltd.com.au
Web: www.joconnorptyltd.com.au
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P: 07 3255 1244

F: 07 3255 1266

E: sufy@sufy.org.au  

 

Speaking Up For You Inc. www.sufy.org.au
The Precinct. Unit F2

1st Floor, 12 Browning Street

PO Box 5649, West End Qld 4101

#AdvocacyMatters


